INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF KANSAS
United States of America,
Plaintiff,
V. Case No. 05-20086-01-JWL
Adam Taff,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM & ORDER

On October 12, 2005, Adam Taff was charged in a two-count superseding indictment with
wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 2 and 1343 (Count 1) and converting to his persona use
campaign contributions and donations in violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act, 2 U.S.C.
8§ 439%(b) (Count 2). Mr. Taff now moves to dismiss Count 2 of the superseding indictment on
the grounds that, as a maiter of law, the government is incgpable of proving its case beyond a
reasonable doubt based on the aleged and undisputed facts. On October 20, 2005, the court held
oral argument on the motion and retained the motion under advisement. For the reasons explained
below, the court now denies the motion.*

An indictment is deemed conditutiondly sufficient if it contans the essentid eements

of the offense intended to be charged; sufficiently agpprises the accused of what he must be

IMr. Taff initiadly moved to dismiss Count 2 of the origind indictment and has renewed
his mation, incorporating arguments from hisinitid motion, in response to the superseding
indictment. Thus, while theinitid motion is moot by virtue of thefiling of the superseding
indictment, the court still looks to that motion to the extent Mr. Taff has incorporated the
arguments made therein into his renewed motion.




prepared to defend agang; and enadbles the accused to plead an acquitta or conviction under the
indictment as a bar to any subsequent prosecution for the same offense. United Sates v. Hall,
20 F.3d 1084, 1087 (10th Cir. 1994) (citations omitted). Generdly, the strength or weakness of
the government’s case, or the auffidency of the government’s evidence to support a charge, may
not be chalenged by a pretrial motion. Id. (citation omitted). An indictment should be tested
soldy on the basis of the dlegations made on its face, and such dlegations are to be taken as true.
Id. (citation omitted). Courts should refrain from conddering evidence outsde the indictment
when testing its legd sufficiency. Id.

Notwithstanding these generd principles, the Tenth Circuit has upheld pretrid dismissas
under Rule 12(b) of the Federa Rules of Crimind Procedure based on the insufficiency of the
evidence under the limited circumstances where the operative facts are undisputed and the
government falls to object to the didrict court’'s consderation of those undisputed facts in making
the determination regarding a submissble case. 1d. a 1088. Under this scenario, a pretrial
dismisd is essentidly a determination that, as a matter of law, the government is incgpable of
proving its case beyond a reasonable doubt. As the Tenth Circuit has cautioned, however, such a
scenario “isindeed the rare exception.” Id.

The partties do not dispute the dlegations contained in the superseding indictment nor do
they dispute Mr. Taff's evidence supplementing those dlegations. Adam Taff is an employee of
Myers Nationd Mortgage Company, Inc. d/b/a Nationd Mortgage Company, Inc. and Mr. Taff’'s
co-defendant, John Myers, is the founder and charman of Nationa Mortgage Company, Inc. At

the time pertinent to the charges in the superseding indictment, Mr. Taff was a candidate for




nomingtion and eection to the United States House of Representatives. Mr. Taff's campaign
committee maintained two accounts at Metcaf Bank for campaign contributions and donations.

In November 2003, Mr. Tdf agreed to purchase a home from Mr. Myers and Mr. Myers
spouse. On December 15, 2003, Mr. Taff, Mr. Myers and Mr. Myers spouse signed a contract
pursuant to which Mr. Taff agreed to purchase the house for $1.2 million. On January 19, 2004,
Mr. Taff met with an agent of NovaStar Home Mortgage, Inc. and signed a loan application form.
On February 10, 2004, Mr. Taff withdrew funds from his two campaign accounts at Metcalf Bank
and obtained a $300,000 bank check payable to John Myers and Mr. Myers' spouse. The bank
check was obtained a 3:41 p.m. on February 10, 2004.

Mssrs. Taf and Myers then met with a dodgng agent at a tilte company in Overland Park,
Kansas and represented that the $300,000 check was a down payment from Mr. Taff to Mr. Myers
and Mr. Myers spouse. That representation was false in that Mssrs. Taff and Myers did not intend
for Mr. Taf to make that payment to Mr. Myers or Mr. Myers spouse. Mr. Taff, Mr. Myers and
the dodng agent then created documents that fasdy showed that Mr. Taf had made the $300,000
down payment and transmitted those documents to NovaStar, which then funded the remaining
$900,000 of the purchase price.  After meeting with the closng agent, Mr. Taff, with the
knowledge and consent of Mr. Myers, took the $300,000 check back to Metcalf Bank where the
funds were redeposited into Mr. Taff’s campaign accounts at 4:27 p.m.

Based on the foregoing, the superseding indictment charges Mr. Taff with converting to his
persona use campagn contributions and donations in violation of the Federa Election Campaign

Act, 2 U.S.C. § 439(b). Subsection (b)(1) of 2 U.SC. § 439a dates that “a contribution or
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donation described in subsection (a8) of this section shall not be converted by any person to
persona use”? Subsection (b)(2) then describes the meaning of the phrase “converted to persona
use” for purposes of subsection (b)(2):
[A] contribution or donation shall be consdered to be converted to persond use if
the contribution or donation is used to fulfill any commitment, obligation, or
expense of a person that would exis irrespective of the candidate's dection
campaign or individud’s duties as a holder of Federd office, including—
(A)  ahome mortgage, rent, or utility payment;
(B)  aclothing purchese;
(C)  anoncampaign-reated automobile expense;
(D)  acountry club membership;
(E)  avacation or other noncampaign-related trip;
() a household food item;
(G)  atuition payment;
(H) admisson to a sporting event, concert, theater, or other form
of entetanment not associated with an eection campagn;

and

M dues, fees, and other payments to a hedth dub or recreational
fadlity.

2 U.S.C. § 439a(b)(2). In support of his motion to dismiss, Mr. Taff asserts that the dlegations

of the superseding indiccment fal to demondrate that Mr. Taff used campaign funds “to fulfill a

2Subsection (a) describes a contribution or donation as any contribution or donation
accepted by a candidate or received by an individud “as support for activities of the individua
asaholder of Federd office”




commitment or obligation” within the meaning of section 439a(b)(2). According to Mr. Taff, the
superseding indictment fals as a matter of law because it is undisputed that he never, in fact, used
the funds to make a payment toward the purchase of his persona resdence; a the most, he used
the funds to represent that he had made a payment toward the purchase of his persona residence.
In sum, Mr. Taff urges that section 439a(b) requires the actua expenditure of campaign funds for
persona use and, thus, the government cannot prove its case because it is undisputed that Mr.
Myers never negotiated the $300,000 check.

While it may be true that Mr. Taff did not use campagn funds to fulfill his commitment to
provide a down payment to Mr. Myers, Mr. Tdf's characterization of the government’s theory of
thar case is amply too narrow and focuses soldy on Mr. Myers as the sdler. In fact, a jury could
conclude that NovaStar, prior to advancing Mr. Taf a loan in the amount of $900,000, required
Mr. Taff to show a closng that he had some percentage of the purchase price (in this case, 25
percent) readily avaldble as a down payment. By presenting an officd bank check in the amount
of $300,000, Mr. Tdf was able to convince NovaStar to proceed with the loan and Mssrs. Taff and
Myers were able to close the ded. Stated another way, the jury could conclude that Mr. Taff would
not have been adle to close the loan without the use of his campaign funds. The government, then,
has dleged facts which would support a violaion of the Federd Election Campaign Act-namely,

that Mr. Taff converted® campaign funds to fulfill his obligation to provide proof to NovaStar that

3Andyzing andogous language in another satute, the Tenth Circuit has explained that
one who wrongfully exercises dominion over property againg the rights of the true owner
commits converson. See United Statesv. Hill, 835 F.2d 759, 764 (10th Cir. 1987)
(explaining “convertsto hisuse’ language of 18 U.S.C. § 641). By obtaining an officia bank

5




he had the requigte funds avaladle to make a down payment on the purchase price so that
NovaStar, in turn, would advance the loan. In such circumstances, the court cannot conclude as a
matter of law that the government is incapable of proving its case beyond a reasonable doubt and

dismissal under Hall isingppropriate. Mr. Taff’smotion is denied.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT that Mr. Téff's motion to dismiss

(doc. 10) and his renewed motion to dismiss (doc. 22) are denied.

IT ISSO ORDERED this 16" day of November, 2005.

g John W. Lungstrum
John W. Lungstrum
United States Digtrict Judge

check, Mr. Taff actudly withdrew the funds from his campaign accounts and exercised
dominion over those funds againg the rights of his campaign committee. Thus, the fact that
Mr. Teff fully intended to return the funds (and did so less than one hour after withdrawing the
funds) is not incongstent with the statutory requirement of converson. See also United
Satesv. Fogel, 901 F.2d 23, 25 (4th Cir. 1990) (conversion under section 641 does not
require that the accused actualy keep the property for persond use; conversion includes
intentional and knowing abuses or unauthorized uses of property).
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